
Please ask for Christine Morgan: Telephone 01775 764454 
e-mail: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL

Date & Time - Wednesday, 9 March 2016 at 6.30 pm

Venue - Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Policy Development Panel:

Councillors: D Ashby, J R Astill, M D Booth, R Clark, G K Dark, H Drury, L J Eldridge, 
A Harrison, C N Johnson, J L King, J D McLean, M J Pullen, J L Reynolds, M D Seymour 
(Chairman), A R Woolf (Vice-Chairman) and P A Williams

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to silent 

mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   1 March 2016



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the following 
meetings (copies enclosed):

a)  Special joint meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel and 
Policy Development Panel - 30 November 2015 (copy enclosed)

(Pages 
1 - 10)

b)  Special joint meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel and 
Policy Development Panel - 14 December 2015 (copy enclosed)

(Pages 
11 - 16)

c)  Policy Development Panel - 13 January 2016 (copy enclosed) (Pages 
17 - 22)

d)  Special joint meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel and 
Policy Development Panel - 4 February 2016 (copy enclosed)

(Pages 
23 - 26)

3. Declaration of Interests. - Where a Councillor has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest the Councillor must declare the interest to the 
meeting and leave the room without participating in any discussion or 
making a statement on the item, except where a Councillor is permitted 
to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation.

4. Questions asked under Standing Order 6 

5. Tracking of recommendations - To consider responses of the Cabinet to 
reports of the Panel.  

6. Items referred from the Performance Monitoring Panel 

7. Key Decision Plan - To note the current Key Decision Plan, published 1 
March 2016 (copy enclosed).  

(Pages 
27 - 30)

8. Council Tax Support Anti-Fraud Policy - To consider the Anti-Fraud 
Policy in relation to the Council Tax Support Scheme (report of the 
Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer) enclosed). 

(Pages 
31 - 42)

9. Council Tax Section 13A Policy - To consider the policy in relation to 
applications for discretionary reduction under Section 13A (1) (c) of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992 (report of the Executive Director, 
Commercialisation enclosed)

(Pages 
43 - 50)

10. Consideration of potential Policy for residual gains from Right to Buy 
sales - Should the Council have a policy stating that all residual gain 
from Right to Buy sales be ring fenced for council housing?  

The Chief Accountant will give a short presentation to provide 
background information and details on the current position, after which 
the Panel will decide if it wishes to consider this issue further.  The 
suggestion was originally put forward as a recommendation at the 



budget scrutiny meeting on 14 December 2015)

11. Policy Development Panel Work Programme - To set out the Work 
Programme of the Policy Development Panel (report of the Executive 
Manager Governance enclosed).

(Pages 
51 - 60)

12. Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent. - 

NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.  



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Minutes of a meeting of the JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Monday, 30 November 2015 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

B Alcock (Chairman)
  

B Alcock
G R Aley
D Ashby
J R Astill
M D Booth
C J T H Brewis
T A Carter

G K Dark
H Drury
L J Eldridge
R Grocock
A Harrison
J L King
J D McLean

A M Newton
M J Pullen
J L Reynolds
M D Seymour
J Tyrrell
A R Woolf

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors R Clark, 
C N Johnson and A C Tennant 

In Attendance:  Councillor P Coupland,  Democratic Services and Electoral Manager, 
Managing Director CPBS (East Coast) Ltd and Executive Manager - Governance and 
the Democratic Services Support Officer.  

Action By
1. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 

Consideration was given as to who should preside over the 
Special Joint meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel and 
Policy Development Panel.

AGREED:

That Councillor B Alcock act as Chairman for the duration of the 
Special Joint meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel and 
Policy Development Panel.

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

There were none. 

3. CONSTITUTION REVIEW 

Members gave consideration to the report of the Shared 
Executive Director Strategy and Governance on the Constitution 
Review. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2.a)



- 2 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 30 November 2015

Mark Stinson (Executive Manager - Governance) and Rhonda 
Booth (Democratic Services Manager) were in attendance to 
present the report and answer any questions. 

On 11 April 2013, the Council agreed that a Constitution Review 
Group be established to work jointly with Breckland District 
Council to review the current constitutional arrangements of both 
authorities.  The Working Group had met a number of times and 
approved draft Constitutions which were aligned structurally, but 
still reflecting each council’s differences.  Final approval of an 
amended Constitution rested with full Council.  

A Special Joint meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel and 
Policy Development Panel was held on 29 July 2014 and 
approved a draft, subject to a number of suggested amendments.  
These were made to the draft and a copy of the Constitution was 
submitted to external lawyers, DAC Beachcroft LLP for an 
independent check.  The draft was given a clean bill of health 
although a number of improvements/alterations were suggested.  

Outstanding queries which were raised by the Joint Panel that 
were not reflected in the draft given to DAC Beachcroft were 
addressed by the Executive Manager Governance and were 
highlighted in the written report.  

Members of the Panel raised a number of points, which included 
formatting, spelling and grammar errors and discussed the 
following:

 When is a minor amendment to the Policy Framework 
minor (reference to pg. 79)?

It was explained that the term ‘minor amendment’ was to be 
interpreted on the facts of each individual case.  

 Was the Constitution aligned with Breckland’s?

Both South Holland’s and Breckland’s Constitutions were formed 
from the Exari Model Constitution, elements were the same.  The 
draft that had been prepared reflected each Council’s specific 
arrangements. 

 Members enquired as to whether there was any difficulty 
with an Executive Member being Chairman of the Planning 
Committee.

The Planning Chairman and Executive Member were two different 

Page 2



- 3 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 30 November 2015

roles.  The law did not prevent an executive member from being 
the Chairman of the Planning Committee.  

 Is it just the Performance Monitoring Panel that would be 
allowed to call-in decisions?

It was just the Performance Monitoring Pane that had the power 
to call-in Executive decisions.  There was a tool called ‘Councillor 
Call For Action’ which allowed any member of the Council to 
instruct the Senior Legal Officer to include on the agenda of the 
relevant Panel, any item for discussion. 

 Members asked whether call-in applied to budget 
virements.  

It was agreed the Executive Manager Governance would further 
investigate this point.  

 It was felt that the ‘Overview and Scrutiny Committee’ 
which was referred to should be changed to reflect the 
Council’s current arrangements, the Performance 
Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel wherever 
appropriate.  

The term ‘Overview and Scrutiny Committee’ was an accepted 
generic term and was used within the draft, but this was easily 
changed to reflect the Council’s actual arrangements. 

 It was requested that the number of Committee members 
on both the Licensing Committee and Committee of the 
Licensing Authority be increased from 10 to 15 to allow for 
its sub Panels’ increasing workload.  Some members were 
unsure how a boundary review may impact on the increase 
of numbers of any given committee.  

The request was agreed to be added to the draft and form part of 
the proposals being considered at the relevant meeting of full 
Council, where the draft was to be considered for approval and 
implementation.  It was explained that any boundary review would 
have much wider implications and would have an overall effect on 
the Constitution, not just the individual committee membership.  

 It was queried why there was a reference to the addition of 
a link immediately after the Committee Delegations table 
(Part 3 Section D (pg. 48))

Page 3



- 4 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 30 November 2015

It was explained that a link to relevant provisions would be 
included, rather than detailing them in full within the Constitution.  
This was to allow readers to reference them should they wish to 
do so.  

 It was requested that the contract procedure rules be 
explained in particular the reference to the tendering 
procedure.

The Executive Manager Governance went through the proposals 
for the tender process and explained to members that it was 
important that, where possible, local providers (within South 
Holland) were given the opportunity to tender.  However, the 
Council’s approach to procurement was now being reviewed.  As 
a consequence, further amendments would be made to the 
Contract Procedure Rules in due course.  

 Councillor Alcock felt that the provision to allow members 
of the public to speak at any meeting of the Council may 
have an impact on the Planning Committee as it already 
had this function.  

It was agreed by all that the Executive Manager – Governance 
would ensure that the provision for speaking at meetings would 
not affect the Planning Committee’s existing arrangements.  

 Concerns were raised over the recommendation to remove 
the key decision plan from full Council agendas. 

It was explained that as the Key Decision Plan was a rolling 
document and decisions were constantly being made, full Council 
may not receive a true reflection of the current situation.  There 
was an up to date version of the Key Decision Plan available on 
the South Holland Website, available for Councillors and 
members of the public to view at any time.  Members appreciated 
that this was the situation, but felt it was an informative document 
and requested that it be recommended that this remain on full 
Council agendas.  

 Reference was made by Councillor J Astill to Article 15 and 
publication of the Constitution.  He enquired about the 
Constitution being be put into other formats at a 
reasonable fee (such as Braille).  

This was to be investigated by the Executive Manager 
Governance and would be reported to members in due course.  

Page 4



- 5 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 30 November 2015

 Councillor G Dark requested that representation at the 
Chairman’s Panel (Planning Committee) be extended to 
enable Ward Members to be substituted by any other 
Councillor (not just another councillor in for that ward) in 
order to submit their views for consideration.  

It was agreed that this mechanism be added.  The Executive 
Manager Governance advised that a full Planning Protocol was 
being compiled, which would accompany the Constitution in 
relation to Planning Committee matters and that much of the 
detail could be addressed there.  

 Councillor R Grocock raised concerns on matters relating 
to S106 monies and member training.  

Councillor Grocock was advised that they were not Constitutional 
matters and advised that he should speak to the relevant 
manager regarding these aspects.  Councillor Coupland advised 
that a list was being compiled on the current situation in relation to 
S106 monies. 

AGREED:

(a) That the Executive Manager Governance investigate 
whether virement decisions were subject to call-in. 

(b) The quorum be listed consistently throughout the document 
as; 3 (or other minimum number) or 1/3, which ever is the 
greater;

(c) That the recommendation for 15 members of the Licensing 
Committee and Committee of the Licensing Committee be 
incorporated in to the draft;

(d) That references to ‘Overview and Scrutiny Committee’ be 
changed to reflect South Holland’s arrangements for 
overview and scrutiny; Performance Monitoring Panel and 
Policy Development Panel;

(e) That the recommendation of the removal of the Key Decision 
Plan be withdrawn;

(f) That the Executive Manager Governance investigate the 
cost of putting the Constitution into other reading formats 
including Braille; and

Page 5



- 6 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 30 November 2015

(g) That representation at the Chairman’s Panel (Planning 
Committee) be extended to enable Ward Members to be 
substituted by any other Councillor.  

(h) That that the provision for speaking at meetings (Standing 
Order 40) be clarified so as to not affect the current 
arrangements for the Planning Committee.  

(i) That the various other typographical errors identified by 
members be corrected.  

(The Democratic Services Manager left the meeting at 7.40pm. 
after consideration of the above item). 

4. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT 

There were none.  

5. TO CONSIDER RESOLVING THAT, UNDER SECTION 100A (4) 
OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972, THE PUBLIC BE 
EXCLUDED FROM THE MEETING FOR THE FOLLOWING 
ITEM OF BUSINESS ON THE GROUNDS THAT IT INVOLVES 
THE LIKELY DISCLOSURE OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS 
DEFINED IN PARAGRAPH 3 OF PART 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A 
OF THE ACT. 

AGREED:

It was resolved that, under section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting 
for the following item of business on the grounds that it involves 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Paragraph 3 of part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

6. COMPASS POINT BUSINESS SERVICES DRAFT BUSINESS 
PLAN 2016 -2020 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Strategy and Governance regarding the Compass Point Business 
Services (East Coast) Ltd Business Plan 2016 – 2020. 
 
Marcus Coleman (Managing Director (Compass Point Business 
Services (East Coast) Ltd), Councillor Coupland and Councillor 
Newton (Company Directors) were also in attendance. 
 

Page 6



- 7 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 30 November 2015

Councillor Newton, in the interest of openness and transparency 
declared that although she was a serving member of the Panel 
she was also a Company Director for Compass Point Business 
Services (East Coast) Ltd.    
 
The Managing Director presented the report to members.  
Councillor Alcock asked for clarification on when feedback was to 
be submitted on the business plan. The Managing Director 
advised that members may provide feedback throughout 
consideration of the item, but may also pass further feedback to 
him outside the meeting and at its consideration at full Council.
 
Compass Point Business Services (East Coast) Ltd, Joint Venture 
Shared Services Company was established by East Lindsey 
District Council and South Holland District Council in 2010.  The 
company produced business support services to its clients, which 
included Finance, Human Resources, ICT, Benefits Assessment, 
Revenue Collection and Customer Services.  
 
In 2010 the Company, East Lindsey District Council and South 
Holland District Council entered into a Ten Year Joint 
Venture Shareholder Agreement.  It was felt that at this mid-point 
in the agreement it was appropriate to take stock of the current 
situation. 
 
The proposed Business Plan, which was appended to the 
covering report, addressed a number of issues. It:

 reviewed the key assumptions made at the start of the of the 
contract;

 reflected on the experience of the Company over the past five 
years; 

 highlighted some of the changing features of the environment in 
which the Company operated;

 proposed renewed focus on activities to support its Shareholding 
Councils; and

 proposed processes to assist all parties in making decisions 
about the future of the Company beyond the exit date defined 
within the Shareholders agreement.  

Over the period of five years the Company had made significant 
savings reducing costs from £10.9 million to £7.9 million.  The 
Managing Director paid tribute to the staff for this achievement 
and reminded members that it had achieved national 
recognition.    
 

The Business Plan suggested a new focus on providing the best 

Page 7



- 8 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 30 November 2015

possible services for East Lindsey and South Holland District 
Councils, rather than pursuing additional external contracts.  

Members expressed some general concerns in respect of 
performance in certain areas; the resulting cost to the Council; 
performance against the previous business plan; and the impact 
on staff morale.
 
Councillors raised the following specific points:
 

 Councillor Alcock was concerned over suggested timescales 
and the number of caveats contained in the Business Plan. 
 

The managing Director advised that the process needed to start 
when all the information had been gathered.  
 

 Councillor Astill asked if there was potential to extend the period 
of the shareholder agreement?

 
The Executive Manager Governance advised that all 
contract/agreements could be extended, subject to the agreement 
of all parties involved.  
 

 Members supported the new focus of the Business Plan 
although there was some disappointment that the Company had 
not managed to bring any other major partners on board.  
Councillor Grocock noted that he had hoped the Company 
would have brought in the services of a professional salesman 
to help ‘close deals’.  

 
The Company currently provided support services to some local 
schools and the local Citizens Advice Bureau.  This was a very 
competitive area of the market.   
 

 There were concerns over pressures on the Company to 
continually achieve savings.  It was important to members that 
maintaining a high quality service was a key priority.

 
Five percent saving had be continually achieved year on year, 
which had been achieved by re-organisation of staff and removing 
levels of management but this had put pressure on staff to retain 
service levels to customers.
 

 Members asked if the Housing Benefits deadlines had been 
achieved, as they were aware that there had been a high back-
log.

 
Much of the back log had been cleared and extra resources had 

Page 8



- 9 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 30 November 2015

been brought in in order to achieve this.  
 

 Councillor Harrison asked if the Company had tried to recruit 
agency staff.

 
This method had been looked into, but was generally very costly.  
 

 Concerns were raised over IT equipment and whether it was ‘fit 
for purpose’.  
 

The Managing Director advised that Gary Stephens was the lead 
on IT and would be more than happy to attend a meeting and 
discuss issues with members. 
 

 Councillor Carter asked if the Company was ready for ‘Universal 
Credit’.

 
Support was available from the Department for Work and 
Pensions and other colleagues were also giving support. 
 

 Members asked for more detail on the proposals for new postal 
arrangements.

 
There were companies that could provide a postal service, 
reducing SHDC and Compass Point’s postal costs.  This had 
been used for the despatch of the Council Tax billing earlier in 
2015.  It provided significant savings, but would mean a culture 
change in the way the in-house postal service was used.  
 
Members expressed a preference for mail to have the South 
Holland postal mark on it; some members had had questions 
about this from members of the public.  
 
The Managing Director advised that members at East Lindsey 
were also reviewing the business plan and their comments would 
be fed into the document, along with South Holland’s that would 
then come before both full Councils for consideration.  
 
AGREED:
 
That the various points and comments made by the Panel be 
reported to full Council, when the Compass Point Business 
Services (East Coast) Ltd Business Plan was submitted for 
approval.     

(The meeting ended at 8.55pm)
(End of minutes)

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



- 10 -

Minutes of a meeting of the JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Monday, 14 December 2015 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

D Ashby
B Alcock
P E Coupland
J R Astill
T A Carter

H Drury
L J Eldridge
C N Johnson
J D McLean
A M Newton

M J Pullen
J L Reynolds
J Tyrrell
P C Foyster
P A Williams

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors G R Aley, 
M D Booth, C J T H Brewis, J L King, M D Seymour, A C Tennant and R Grocock 

In Attendance:  Executive Director – Commercialisation, Interim Chief Accountant and 
Principal Democratic Services Officer. 

Action By
7. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 

Councillor Alcock was elected Chairman for the duration of the 
meeting.

8. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

There were no declarations of interest.

9. DRAFT BUDGET, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL 
STRATEGY 

The Panels received a report by the Executive Director, 
Commercialisation which set out the draft capital and revenue 
budget estimates, the medium term financial plan and the capital 
strategy for consideration.

The appendices to the report outlined the 2016-17 revenue and 
capital estimates for the General Fund, the proposals for the 
setting of discretionary fees and charges, the outline position to 
2019-20, the medium term financial plan and the capital strategy.  
The medium term financial plan set out the framework within 
which the budget was to be set to ensure that it enabled the 
Council to achieve its own corporate objectives.  The capital 
strategy set out the framework for the capital budget setting.

Councillors noted that during recent years the council, alongside 
many public sector service providers, had experienced financial 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 2.b)



- 11 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 14 December 2015

pressures in various combinations; public sector funding cuts, all 
time low returns on cash deposits and a national economic 
downturn affecting jobs, housing and business growth.  During 
this same period the basis on which the public sector was funded 
had undergone unprecedented reform, radical changes that 
affected the council’s funding financial position both directly and 
indirectly including National Welfare Reform, Localisation of 
Council Tax Relief, Business Rates Retention, New Homes 
Bonus and of course reduction and in some cases removal of a 
range of grant funding sources. Each change brought elements of 
uncertainty in terms of impact.

Despite these challenges and as a result of the Council’s prudent 
financial management and innovative income generation, the 
Council had been positioned to secure a sustainable financial 
future across the medium term with no dependency on reserves.  
This position was enabling the Council time to develop a clear 
financial strategy in the medium and longer term to identify and 
deliver the more complex transformational changes required to 
meet the significant financial challenges of future years.  

This complex change had already started with the recent approval 
of the transformation programme and identification of projects.  
Some changes had been delivered early, with accelerated 
savings, in respect of the integration of Housing Services and 
adopting contemporary accounting practices in relation to the 
Minimum Revenue Provision position. Introduction of a Garden 
waste collection scheme had also been agreed for 2016/17. 

The draft budget supported the principle of reducing reliance on 
Revenue Spending Grant and provided funding for a growth fund 
to deliver on-going revenue income streams over the medium 
term.  Reducing the reliance on uncertain sources of funding 
would make the council a more stable organisation able to deliver 
services to residents with more certainty in the longer term.

In 2015/16 £1.1m of funding was agreed and set aside to provide 
up-front investment for the transformation programme, which was 
in progress and no further funding requirements had been 
identified at this stage.

The Panels also received a presentation from the Executive 
Director – Commercialisation and the Interim Chief Accountant.  
Councillors noted that the objectives were:

• To be a ‘financially independent’ Council
• To generate additional revenue schemes

Page 12



- 12 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 14 December 2015

• Invest in service improvements to further improve Value for 
Money

Councillors considered the situation concerning the capital 
expenditure cost for the refuse vehicles.  It was noted that in 
2012/13 the Council applied for and secured grant funding of 
£1,768,000 of the total amount awarded £1,039,000 was capital 
funding and the balance revenue funding.  The whole amount was 
paid in stages across 3 financial years. Three freighters were 
purchased in 2013/14 using £385,000 from the capital element of 
the grant. In addition, waste and recycling software was 
purchased at a cost of £76,000.  The revenue element of the 
grant was spent on four officers to promote recycling and 
education programmes for all users and the retention of free black 
sacks over three years.

Environmental Services’ refuse vehicles lease ended in June 
2014.  At a cost of £2,085,000 30 vehicles were purchased (11 
freighters and other 19 other vehicles).  After the remaining 
capital element of grant had been taken into account, the Council 
needed to find £1,507,000.  The Council could have taken the 
money out of the bank and paid off the debt or spread the 
payment over 7 future years.  At the time the decision was taken 
the Council was balancing its budget one year at a time and so 
the decision was taken to spread the cost.

However, the council was now in a position where it did not want 
to carry debt in the future and so it was proposed to identify 
sources of funding to pay off the debt of £1,507,000. Sources had 
been identified, including in year savings, Council Tax reserve 
and £164,000 useable capital receipts. 

Councillors gave consideration to whether the capital receipt 
element of the proposed funding which arose from the residual 
element of Right to Buy sales after all ring fencing to housing 
purposes had been accounted should also be ring fenced for 
Council housing.  It was noted that it was generally the norm in 
other authorities for this money to be utilised in the General Fund, 
however some authorities had in place a policy that stated that 
Right to Buy receipts were ring fenced for Council housing.  
Councillors considered that in the absence of a policy it was 
appropriate for the residual receipts from Right to Buy to be used 
towards the capital expenditure costs of the refuse vehicles.  It 
was agreed however that in order to inform future financial 
planning, the Policy Development Panel be invited to give 
consideration as to whether the Council should have a policy on 
this issue.

Page 13



- 13 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 14 December 2015

Councillors also considered the current position regarding the 
Housing Revenue Account and the General Fund.  With regard to 
the General Fund it was noted that there was a budget gap of 
£320,000 in 2016/17.  Councillors discussed the following 
proposals for meeting the shortfall:

 Council Tax Increase £81,000
 Council Tax Base £90,000 (measured Dec 2015)
 Welland Homes £50,000 (Interest payments)
 Salaries Drag factor £40,000
 European Grant administration fee £25,000
 Drainage Board levy freeze £34,000

It was agreed that these proposals be supported.

The Panels also gave consideration to the other proposed 
opportunities that had been identified for future savings:

 Earmarked reserves
 Organisation design (develop and deliver Transformation)
 General Fund Services and HRA Services amalgamation
 Council Tax Relief Scheme
 Compass Point Business Services
 Financial Settlement (potential threat also)
 HRA Rent Policy
 HRA Affordable Housing Programme and Welland Homes

It was agreed that, in principle, these issues should be explored.

The Councillors thanked the Executive Director – 
Commercialisation and Interim Chief Accountant for their clear 
presentation and responses to questions.

Agreed: 

1. That the joint meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel 
and Policy Development Panel makes the following 
recommendations to Cabinet:

a. In the absence of a policy on how the Council will 
use residual receipts from Right to Buy  sales, 
£164,000 useable capital receipts from housing 
sales be utilised towards the capital expenditure 
costs for the refuse  vehicles;

JK

Page 14



- 14 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 14 December 2015

b. The following proposals for closing the £320,000 
Medium Term Financial Plan General Fund 
budget gap were supported:

 Council tax Increase £81,000
 Council tax Base £90,000 (measured Dec 

2015)
 Welland Homes £50,000 (Interest payments)
 Salaries drag factor £40,000
 European Grant administration fee £25,000
 Drainage Board levy freeze £34,000

c.  In principle, the following opportunities should be 
explored to identify potential savings in future 
years:

 Earmarked reserves
 Organisation design (develop and deliver 

Transformation)
 General Fund Services and HRA Services 

amalgamation
 Council Tax Relief Scheme
 Compass Point Business Services
 Financial Settlement (potential threat also)
 HRA Rent Policy
 HRA Affordable Housing Programme and 

Welland Homes

2. That it be recommended to the Policy Development Panel 
that it gives consideration to examining whether the 
Council should have a policy that says that all residual gain 
from Right to Buy sales is ring fenced for council housing 
and that the outcome of this consideration is recommended 
to Cabinet in order to assist future Medium Term Financial 
Plan setting.

10. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT 

There were no urgent items.

(The meeting ended at 8.30 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



- 29 -

Minutes of a meeting of the POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in Meeting Room 
1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Wednesday, 13 January 2016 at 6.30 
pm.

PRESENT

M D Seymour (Chairman)
A R Woolf (Vice-Chairman)

J R Astill
M D Booth
G K Dark

L J Eldridge
J D McLean
M J Pullen

J L Reynolds
P A Williams

In Attendance:  The Executive Director Place, the Place Manager and the Democratic 
Services Officer.

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors D Ashby, 
R Clark, H Drury, A Harrison, C N Johnson and J L King.

Action By
37. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 4 November 2015 were 
signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 

38. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS. 

There were none. 

39. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 
          10.3.

There were none. 

40. TRACKING OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

There were none. 

41. ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE PERFORMANCE MONITORING
          PANEL

There were none. 

42. KEY DECISION PLAN 

Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan, published on 5 
January 2016.

Page 17

Agenda Item 2.c)



- 30 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 13 
January 2016

AGREED:

That the Key Decision Plan be noted. 

43. ADDRESSING LONG TERM EMPTY HOMES 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Place which presented an update on the current situation 
regarding long term empty homes in South Holland.

On 22 July 2015, the Policy Development Panel had received a 
report on addressing long term empty homes, and had requested 
an update in six months time.  Therefore, a briefing report had 
been produced, which was attached at Appendix A to the 
covering report.  The briefing report provided an overview of the 
following:

 Performance in returning empty homes back into use
 Empty Homes and the New Homes Bonus scheme
 South Holland Empty Homes Strategy 2014-16

The Executive Director Place concentrated on Appendix A, 
focussing on progress made against actions, in particular the 
planned actions which had a status of amber.

It was agreed that good progress had been made since the last 
report however, this had to continue.  The Panel requested that a 
further progress report be presented in six months time. 

AGREED:

1) That the report of the Executive Director Place be noted; and

2) That a further update report on the situation regarding long 
term empty homes in South Holland be provided to the Panel 
in six months time. 

MH, CM 

44. STREET SCENE ISSUES 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Place which addressed street scene issues and responded to 
matters raised at the last Panel meeting on 4 November 2015.  

At that meeting, the following was agreed:

 That a summary of legislation relating to the duties of the local 
authority with regard to street scene issues, shop frontages 
and upkeep of public areas be provided;

Page 18



- 31 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 13 
January 2016

 That information be provided on whether the size of 
conservation area could be expanded or reduced, with regard 
to how conservation areas affected what was considered as 
appropriate signage for the areas;

 That the Panel consider this information to ascertain whether 
there were any areas not covered by legislation that could be 
used to formulate a policy to address areas of concern;

 That officers be requested to liaise with colleagues from the 
local authority covering Stamford to identify reasons why there 
was a different approach to street scene/shop frontages in the 
South Holland and Stamford area;

 That Councillor McLean’s suggestion of introducing a 
voluntary code for shopkeepers in order to improve shop 
frontages be considered;

 That Councillors be advised on issues around the erection of 
new signs regarding disposal of chewing gum – their location 
and cost-effectiveness; and

 That Councillors be advised of whether the old street cleaner 
had been leased or purchased, and if it could be used in other 
towns and villages in the district.

The report addressed these points, covering the following areas – 
planning legislation; conservation areas; Stamford; voluntary 
code; chewing gum signage; street cleaning machinery; and 
enforcement issues.

The Place Manager made the following points;

 There was a wide range of legislation surrounding street 
scene issues, and it was sometimes complex.  There was 
often a tendency to react to negative issues, and because of 
the difficulty in dealing with them, ultimately they were rarely 
resolved satisfactorily.

 Comparisons with Stamford were not realistic, as the towns 
and villages of South Holland did not contain either a vast 
range of listed buildings or areas within their cores which had 
such particular focus that would justify the level of control 
exercised within Stamford.     

 The suggestion made previously regarding working with 
businesses in town was a good one, and had already been 
raised with the Spalding Town Centre Manager.  Engaging 
with the Town Centre Manager and various Chambers of 
Commerce would be the best approach, in order to deal with 
the issues although it would be difficult to achieve a 
consensus in view of the fact that there were many different 
premises owners and more than one Chamber of Commerce.

The following issues were raised by Panel members:

Page 19



- 32 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 13 
January 2016

 Reference was made to paragraph 1.2.11 within the report 
which referred to the Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisements) regulations 2007 making provision for the 
introduction of Orders for Areas of Special Control – could this 
be done in South Holland?

o The Place Manager explained the process and 
advised that to undertake this within the South 
Holland area would involve a lot or work which may 
not justify the end result.

 Spalding’s conservation area had been agreed in 2009 – was 
it due for a review?

o The Place Manager responded that Spalding’s 
conservation area was quite extensive.  All that 
could be done would be to extend or contract the 
area and that this would make no difference to 
Spalding town centre. With regard to enforcement, 
whether a property was within the conservation area 
was not the be all and end all, as enforcement could 
be undertaken on properties outside of the 
conservation area.

 The issue of a voluntary code for shopkeepers was again 
raised.  After some debate, it was agreed that the best way 
forward with this would be for the Authority to work in 
partnership with the Chambers of Commerce, the Town 
Centre Manager and shopkeepers in the town to reach an 
agreement on a Code.  It was important that rather than 
dictating terms, owners of premises were spoken to and 
encouraged to adopt the code. The lead should come from the 
Town Centre Manager and the Spalding Town Forum and the 
Council would be involved in considering how it could support 
the voluntary code.  The Executive Director Place commented 
that there were many issues for the Authority to discuss with 
the Town Centre Manager, to be taken forward and to 
establish a relationship with shop owners.  Issues such as 
street cleaning and tidiness, amongst others, were areas 
where the Authority should be involved, and it was important 
to focus on how everybody could work together to establish 
where resources could be best allocated.     

AGREED:

a) That the report of the Executive Director Place be noted;

b) That a voluntary code for shopkeepers be agreed between the 
Spalding Town Centre Manager, the various Chambers of 

PJ, CM 

Page 20



- 33 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 13 
January 2016

Commerce, and shopkeepers in the town; and

c) That the Town Centre Manager be invited to attend a meeting 
of the Panel in six months time to provide an update on how 
this was progressing. 

CM 

45. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager 
Governance, which set out the Work Programme of the Policy 
Development Panel.  The Work Programme consisted of two 
separate sections, the first setting out the dates of the future 
Panel meetings along with proposed items for consideration, and 
the second setting out the Task Groups that had been identified 
by the Panel.

With respect to the Sir Halley Stewart Playing Field Task Group’s 
recommendations, Councillor Dark asked for details regarding the 
2016 Open Day to be held on the Field.  It was agreed that the 
relevant officer would contact him regarding this.

At the joint Scrutiny meeting held on 14 December 2015 to 
scrutinise the Budget, it had been recommended that the Panel 
give consideration to examining whether the Council should have 
a policy that stated that all residual gain from Right to Buy sales 
be ring fenced for council housing, and that the outcome of this 
consideration be recommended to Cabinet in order to assist at 
future Medium Term Financial Plan setting.  The Panel requested 
that the Interim Chief Accountant be requested to attend the next 
Panel meeting to provide background information and the current 
position on the issue and that the Panel would then decide 
whether to look at the matter in more detail.

At the last meeting of the Panel, issues had been raised regarding 
why companies/the NHS/schools etc. had difficulty in attracting 
professionals to the area and how this linked to community well-
being.  The Panel had suggested the formation of a Task Group 
to look at developing a policy to address these issues and had 
requested that the Executive Director Place draw together a draft 
scope for consideration.  The Executive Director Place advised 
that he had done some research on these issues and reported 
that: 1) Lincolnshire County Council had looked at the 
Lincolnshire Health and Care Programme and through a piece of 
work entitled ‘Enablers of Change’,  was considering issues such 
as workforce supply and retention; 2) the Authority’s Human 
Resources department would be considering issues, such as 
recruitment, as part of the Organisational Development arm of the 
Transformation Programme, and there would therefore be an 

Page 21



- 34 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 13 
January 2016

opportunity to consider the issues at this point.  

AGREED:

1) That the Work Programme be noted;

2) That the Communities Manager liaise with Councillor G Dark 
regarding the Open Day to be held at the Sir Halley Stewart 
Playing Field;

3) That with regard to the Panel giving consideration to 
examining whether the Council should have a policy that 
states that all residual gain from Right to Buy Sales is ring 
fenced for council housing, the Interim Chief Accountant be 
requested to attend the next Panel meeting to provide 
background information and the current position on this issue, 
after which a decision be taken by the Panel as to whether to 
look at the matter in more detail; and

4) That with regard to difficulties experienced by various 
organisations in attracting professionals to the area, the 
Executive Director Place liaise with Lincolnshire County 
Council regarding work currently being undertaken for the 
Lincolnshire Health and Care Programme that was looking into 
workforce supply, retention etc., and establish how outcomes 
from this could be fed into the Authority’s own work on these 
issues that would be addressed through the Transformation 
Programme. 

EH 

KT 

RW, GP 

(The meeting ended at 7.40 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 22



- 15 -

Minutes of a meeting of the JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Thursday, 4 February 2016 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

 B Alcock (Chairman)
 

G R Aley
D Ashby
J R Astill
M D Booth
C J T H Brewis
T A Carter
G K Dark

H Drury
L J Eldridge
P C Foyster
R Grocock
A Harrison
C N Johnson
J L King

A M Newton
M J Pullen
J L Reynolds
M D Seymour
A C Tennant
J Tyrrell

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors R Clark, 
J D McLean and A R Woolf 

In Attendance:  Rob Walker (Executive Director Place), Ken Trotter (Chief Accountant 
(Deputy Section 151 Officer)), Rob Leigh (Executive Manager People and 
Information), Greg Pearson (Corporate Improvement and Performance 
Manager),Jenny Stephens (Programme Manager), Richard Scorthorne (Housing 
Manager, Landlord), David Ogden (Communications Manager), Emily Spicer 
(Environmental Services Manager), Paul Jackson (South Holland Place Manager) 
and Tracy Miller (Business Transformation Officer).    

Action By
11. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 

Consideration was given as to who should preside over the Joint 
meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy 
Development Panel.  

AGREED:

That Councillor B Alcock act as Chairman for the duration of the 
joint meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy 
Development Panel.   

12. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

There were none.  

Page 23

Agenda Item 2.d)



- 16 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 4 February 2016

13. TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME - MOVING FORWARD: 
OUR PLAN FOR 2019 

Members received a presentation from Greg Pearson (Corporate 
Improvement and Performance  Manager) on the Transformation 
Programme (Moving Forward: Our Plan for 2019) for South 
Holland District Council.  

Members formed four groups to look at and scrutinise the four 
themes of the Transformation Programme.  Each group took turns 
to look at each of the theme areas, which were as follows: (details 
of the four themes attached at Appendix A to these minutes). 

 Digitalisation;

 Aligning Public Services;

 Organisational Design; and

 Commercialisation. 

Senior Officers that were present lead the group discussions, 
providing details of plans and exploring ideas that fit into the 
theme areas.   

Issues/questions/ideas that arose from discussions were noted by 
officers and fed back to the joint Panel.

The main points arising from the four themes were as follows:

Organisational Design:

 Concerns over security, were the systems ‘fit for purpose’?

 Did the Council’s ICT need improvement and further 
investment?

 Would re-aligning services for the need now mean they 
may not be fit for future requirements?

 Members of the publics views on what they want should 
factor into how the organisation was designed.

Page 24



- 17 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 4 February 2016

Commercialisation:

 Current contracts should be reviewed -  to ensure value for 
money and to ensure they are fit for purpose going 
forward;

 What were the gaps in the market – could the Council 
provide a service that fills that gap?

 The Council has a good name and reputation of being 
reliable – this should be harnessed and help as part of 
promoting any trading service;

 Strong marketing would be needed, it would be important 
to have marketing and public relations experts on board to 
promote any services offered by the council;

 There were concerns over using officers of the authority for 
undertaking the work of any trading service – it was 
important that there was a clear division in work force.  

Aligning Public Services:

 Customers should be at the heart of the council;

 Was the council owned buildings being used most 
effectively in providing the services the public wanted?

 What were the long term intentions for the Priory Road 
site?

Members agreed that the presentation and discussions were very 
useful and would welcome regular updates on the progress of the 
Transformation Programme.  

Greg Pearson advised members that there were various 
timescales over all aspects of the programme working forward to 
2019.  Updates would be provided via  performance reporting to 
the Performance Monitoring Panel.  Members requested that it 
would be, in addition to the feedback to the Performance 
Monitoring Panel, that updates were also provided to meetings of 
the joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development 
Panel, on a quarterly basis.  

Page 25



- 18 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 4 February 2016

AGREED:  

That quarterly meetings of the joint Performance Monitoring Panel 
and Policy Development Panel be held where updates on the 
Transformation Programme be provided.  

14. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT 

There were none. 

(The meeting ended 8.05 p.m.)

(End of minutes)

Page 26



1

KEY DECISION PLAN Issued –  1 March 2016

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision 
is likely to be made, to: 

Shelley French, Democratic Services Support Officer, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: memberservices@sholland.gov.uk

The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months

The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is 
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise stated, 
come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period from the date of publication of any decision.  

Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more 
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any 
single financial year above the threshold of £72,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £178,000 in respect of capital expenditure.”

Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating 
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral 
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy 
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies)

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 7.

mailto:memberservices@sholland.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

2

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing

New sewerage 
maintenance 
contract for 
council housing 
stock

To award new sewerage maintenance 
contract for the housing stock.

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing Landlord, 
Housing Manager.

Informal meetings and 
discussions.

Housing Landlord 
Manager 

Between  1 Mar 2016 and 
31 Mar 2016

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing

Roofing renewal 
contract for 
council housing 
stock

To award new roofing renewal contract 
for the housing stock.

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing Landlord, 
Housing Manager.

Informal meetings and 
discussions.

Housing Landlord 
Manager 

Between  1 Mar 2016 and 
31 Mar 2016

Portfolio Holder 
for 
Commercial
-isation

Superfast 
Broadband 
Contribution

To approve South Holland District 
Council's contribution to the roll out of 
Superfast Broadband across South 
Holland. 

Portfolio Holder, Executive 
Manager Growth, 
Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151), 
Lincolnshire County 
Council. 

Meetings and 
Correspondence. 

Cabinet 

14 Jun 2016

P
age 28



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

3

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing

CSU Glazing 
Replacements 
Contract

To award a contract. Portfolio Holder for 
Housing. 

Meetings and discussions.

Housing Landlord 
Manager 

Between  1 Jun 2016 and 
30 Jun 2016

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing

CSU Support 
Works Contract

To award a contract Portfolio Holder for 
Housing. 

Meetings and discussions. 

Housing Landlord 
Manager 

Between  1 Jun 2016 and 
30 Jun 2016

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing

CSU Building 
Materials 
Contract

To award a contract. Portfolio Holder for 
Housing. 

Meetings and discussions. 

Housing Landlord 
Manager 

Between  1 Sep 2016 and 
30 Sep 2016

P
age 29



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

4

*Cabinet Membership
The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader)
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council)
Councillor M G Chandler (Deputy Leader)
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor S Slade (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder)

If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact:

Shelley French, Democratic Services Support Officer, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: memberservices@sholland.gov.uk

P
age 30

mailto:memberservices@sholland.gov.uk


SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director Commercialisation (s151 Officer)

To: Policy Development Panel - 9 March 2016

Author: Sharon Hammond, Head of Strategy, Revenues and Benefits

Subject: Council Tax Support Anti-Fraud Policy

Purpose: To consider the anti-fraud policy in relation to the Council Tax Support 
scheme.

Recommendation:
 
1) To consider the Council Tax Support Anti-Fraud Policy and provide feedback if appropriate.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Council Tax Support replaced the national Council Tax Benefit system in April 2013 under 
the Welfare Reform Act 2012 and local authorities are required to have in place a locally 
determined scheme for working age residents.  

1.2   It is a legislative requirement that those who receive state pension  will continue to receive 
support under the Council Tax Support Scheme on the same terms  as would have 
applied under the old Council Tax Benefit scheme

 
1.3   Activities outlined in the policy are carried out in practice by trained and experienced 

Officers, with compliance to relevant legislation and governance. To ensure transparency, 
and to act as a deterrent, the process has been brought together in a Council Tax Support 
Anti-Fraud Policy, attached as Appendix A to this report.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To consider the Policy and make no comment.

2.2 To consider the Policy and make comments where applicable.

2.3 To do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 Approval and publication of the policy will ensure the Council is transparent and pro-active 
in its approach to tackling Council Tax Support fraud. This could act as a deterrent to 
potential fraudsters.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Publicity of fraud prevention, deterrent and detection activities will help to reduce incidents 
of fraud in the local Council Tax Support system, whilst ensuring funding for CTS is 
maximised for genuine recipients.  

Page 31

Agenda Item 8.



5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Constitution & Legal

5.1.1 All Officers engaged in fraud prevention, deterrent and detection activities are trained to 
comply with appropriate legislation, codes of practice and corporate policies.  These are 
listed in more detail in the policy at Appendix A. 

5.1.2 Authorised powers are set out in The Council Tax Reduction scheme (Detection of Fraud 
and Enforcement) (England) Regulations 2013 and in accordance with section 14A of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992.

5.2 Corporate Priorities

5.2.1 The adoption of the Council Tax Support Anti-Fraud Policy would support council priorities 
in respect of crime prevention.

5.3 Crime and Disorder 

5.3.1 This policy outlines how the Council tackles fraud against its Council Tax Support 
scheme, and the approach to sanctions and prosecutions.   

5.4 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.4.1 The Investigations team are trained to ensure that anyone suspected of fraud receives 
clear and understandable information in particular to ensure awareness of legal rights.

5.5 Financial 

5.5.1   From April 2013 funding and responsibility for Council Tax Support transferred to local 
government and is now administered as part of the collection fund arrangements.

5.5.2   The impact on council tax income based on the 31 January 2016 position is shown below

Number Amount of Council Tax 
Support (CTS)

Elderly 3,500 £2,729,521

Working Age 2,891 £1,662,487

Total 6,391 £4,392,008

5.5.3   The local council tax reduction scheme is to be examined in 2016/17 to further understand 
this position and any amendments will be incorporated into this policy as appropriate.

5.5.4   Transitional funding was introduced in 2013/14 for this activity and it was included in the 
Revenue support grant for that year at £397,000. At the same time the Business rates 
retention scheme was also introduced which is placing greater emphasis on local income 
generation.

5.5.5 In line with local authorities statutory duty to administer and arrange their financial affairs 
appropriately in accordance with Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, this 
policy sets out the approach this Council takes to ensure an appropriate and effective anti-
fraud process is in place in relation to Council Tax Support.

Page 32



5.6 Reputation 

5.6.1 The adoption of a policy to support the practice and processes in place will demonstrate 
the Council commitment and approach to protect public funds in respect of Council Tax 
Support.

5.7  Staffing

5.7.1 Fraud investigation is carried out by appropriately trained and authorised personnel. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 CTS – Council Tax Support

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: (1) Andy Eaman, Investigations Team Leader, (2) Ken Trotter, Interim 

Chief Accountant
Telephone Number: (1) 01775 764414 (2) 01775 764684 
Email: andy.eaman@cpbs.com  Ken.trotter@sholland.gov.uk 

Key Decision: No 
Exempt Decision: No 
This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A Council Tax Support Anti-Fraud Policy

Page 33

%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
mailto:andy.eaman@cpbs.com
mailto:Ken.trotter@sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



South Holland District Council

Council Tax Support Anti-Fraud 
Policy

Page 35



2

Contents

Section 1 3

Background 3
Legislation and governance 3
Equalities impact 3

Section 2 3 - 5

What is Council Tax Support fraud? 3 - 4
Anti-fraud policy 4 - 5

Section 3 5

Authorised officers 5

Section 4 5 - 7

Sanctions and prosecutions 5
Appropriate enforcement action 5
Penalty as alternative to prosecution 5
Prosecution  6
The decision to prosecute  6
Evidential test  6
Public interest test 6 - 7

Appendix A - Flowchart 7

Page 36



3

Section 1

Background
This document describes the anti-fraud policy of the council in relation to the local 
Council Tax Support scheme. It is intended to inform staff and service users of the 
specific actions carried out by the Investigation Team in relation to Council Tax 
Support. 

Local authorities have a statutory duty to administer and arrange their financial affairs 
appropriately in accordance with section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972. It is 
therefore important that the council applies an appropriate and effective anti-fraud 
process as part of the administration of Council Tax Support.

The main objective in developing this policy is to prevent, detect, correct, punish and 
deter fraudulent activity in general and specifically in relation to Council Tax Support.

Legislation and governance
All officers are required to comply with appropriate legislation, codes of practice and 
corporate policies when executing duties in relation to fraud.

The codes, legislation and policies that are adhered to in order to succeed in 
executing the fraud policy include:

 Data Protection Act 1998
 Human Rights Act 2000
 Local Government Finance Act 1992
 Council Tax Reduction scheme (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) 

(England) Regulations 2013
 Welfare Reform Act 2012
 Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984
 Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996
 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000

Equalities impact
The Investigations Team will ensure that anyone suspected of fraud will receive clear 
and understandable correspondence making them aware of their legal rights and 
informing them of all the possible outcomes to an investigation. 

Section 2

What is Council Tax Support fraud?
For the purposes of this policy fraud is perceived to be:

 Knowingly or dishonestly making a false statement or representation with 
intent to gaining a financial advantage through Council Tax Support.

Or

 Knowingly or dishonestly failing to give prompt notice of a change of 
circumstances, with intent to gaining a financial advantage through Council 
Tax Support.

The Investigations Team will approach the investigation of both fraud and corruption 
in the same manner within the boundaries of their procedures and the constraints of 
appropriate legislation.

Page 37



4

Anti-fraud policy

The following measures are pursued in order to minimise the risk of fraud and to 
prevent, detect, punish and deter fraud in the South Holland District Council area.

Claim checking and verification of proofs
The Council maintains a consistent process of claim verification, and obtains original 
documentation when assessing Council Tax Support. Proof of identity is also 
obtained when the claimant first applies for assistance.

Investigations Team.
The Investigations Team, receives and investigates allegations of suspected Council 
Tax Support fraud in respect of the District.  The Council is committed to maintaining 
fraud staff levels and resources, which are proportionate and pertinent to local 
requirements.  

All Investigation Team members employed on this work are designated as 
‘Authorised officers’ by the Chief Executive under the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) Regulations 2013
This enables specific use of authorised Investigative powers within the parameters of 
the law. 

Training
All relevant frontline staff will be appropriately trained to detect irregularities and 
possible fraud with respect to claims for Council Tax Support. 

Information Sharing
By law, the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) and Her Majesty’s Revenue 
and Customs (HMRC) will be able to share their information with local authorities in 
order to corroborate the personal and financial circumstances of an applicant in 
relation to Council Tax Support.

Fraud hotline
The Council publicises and promotes the use of a dedicated fraud hotline to assist 
members of the public in reporting potentially fraudulent activity in Council Tax 
Support claims. The telephone number is 0800 002 008 and connects directly with 
the Investigations Team. 

From 1 October 2014 the responsibility for Housing Benefit Fraud investigation was 
transferred to the Department for Work and Pensions as part of the national 
implementation of the Single Fraud Investigation Service.

Fraud referrals relating to Housing Benefit, DWP benefits and Tax Credits should be 
made directly to the National Benefit Fraud Hotline on  0800 854 440. 

Duty to report
Council employees have a duty to report any suspected fraud concerning council 
business. If an employee has any concerns regarding entitlement to Council Tax 
Support, it must be reported immediately to the Investigations Team.

Communication
All claimants are provided with documentation written in plain English wherever 
possible. In addition, information will be written in a clear and understandable format 
to ensure that claimants are aware of their responsibilities to provide accurate and 
timely information, in relation to their current circumstances and changes of 
circumstances. 

Page 38



5

Publicity
The Council will publicise the results of individual cases, which have resulted in a 
conviction in the criminal courts. 

Section 3

Authorised officers
The Council appoints officers who are authorised to obtain specific information in 
relation to Council Tax Support investigations. Authorised powers are set out in The 
Council Tax Reduction scheme (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) 
Regulations 2013 in accordance with section 14A of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992.

Directed surveillance
Investigations Team members are trained to execute appropriate and proportionate 
use of directed surveillance in accordance with the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act 2000.

Section 4

Sanctions and prosecutions
The Investigations Team Leader will give careful consideration to taking further 
action against anyone who has committed fraud in order to obtain Council Tax 
Support. The details of each fraud case will be taken into account and measured 
against the evidential and public interest test stated in the Code for Crown 
Prosecutors. 

Appropriate enforcement action
In all cases investigated the Compliance Officer will supply an investigation report to 
the Investigations Team Leader showing the officer’s actions, conclusions and 
recommendations regarding the investigation. The Investigations Team Leader will 
then make the final decision as to whether it is appropriate and proportionate to take 
further enforcement action against the person or persons subject to investigation. 

Penalty as alternative to prosecution
The legislation governing the use of a financial penalty as an alternative to 
prosecution where a person has fraudulently claimed Council Tax Support is 
contained in section 14C of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. The conditions 
by which a penalty might be used are described in regulation 11 of the Council Tax 
Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) Regulations 
2013.

Penalties may be offered as an alternative to prosecution when a fraudulent claim 
has caused excess Council Tax Support to be awarded or could have caused excess 
Council Tax Support being awarded.

In accordance with the legislation a penalty offered as an alternative to prosecution 
will be a minimum of £100 or 50% of the fraudulent excess Council Tax Support 
claimed by the offender (rounded down to the nearest penny) whichever figure is 
greater. A penalty should not exceed £1000.00. A person does not have to accept 
the penalty.

A fixed penalty of £70 can also be imposed in less serious cases in accordance with 
Regulation 13 of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Detection of Fraud and 
Enforcement)(England) Regulations 2013.

Page 39



6

Prosecution
Prosecutions relating to this policy will be pursued by the council. Prosecution will be 
considered against someone who has committed an offence in order to receive 
Council Tax Support.

The decision to prosecute
When a Compliance officer has established an offence relating to Council Tax 
Support the investigation file will be passed to the Investigations Team Leader. A 
report will be contained in the file showing the officer’s conclusions and 
recommendations regarding the investigation. The Investigations Team Leader will 
make the final decision with respect to appropriate enforcement action. As part of the 
fraud process the Investigations Team Leader will refer to The Code for Crown 
Prosecutors as a guide to establishing the value of prosecuting offenders by referring 
to the evidential and public interest tests.

Evidential test
In making a decision to prosecute, the local authority must be satisfied that there is 
enough evidence to provide a ‘realistic prospect of conviction’. A realistic prospect of 
conviction is an objective test meaning that a jury, magistrate or judge hearing a case 
which, is properly directed in accordance with the law, is more likely than not to 
convict the defendant of the alleged offence. 

Public interest test
The Investigations Team Leader will always consider public interest judiciously and 
will balance the factors for and against prosecution objectively.
In making the decision whether it is in the public interest to prosecute, the following 
factors will be considered:

Some common public interest factors in favour of prosecution
 the seriousness of the offence;
 a conviction is likely to result in a substantial sentence;
 the claimant was in a position of authority or trust;
 there is evidence that the offence was premeditated, e.g. the Council Tax 

Support claim was false from its inception;
 there is evidence that the claimant  instigated and organised the fraud;
 there is previous incidence of fraud;
 there are grounds for believing that the alleged offence is likely to be 

continued or repeated, based on any history of recurring conduct;

Some common public interest factors against prosecution
 the court is likely to impose a nominal penalty;
 the offence was committed as a result of a genuine mistake or 

misunderstanding (factors balanced against the seriousness of the offence);
 the impact of any loss of funds can be described as minor and was the result 

of a single incident, particularly if it was the result of misjudgement;
 there have been long and avoidable delays between the offence taking place 

and the date of the trial, unless:
(i) The offence is serious
(ii) The delay is caused in part by the defendant
(iii) The offence has only recently come to light
(iv) The complexity of the offence has caused a long investigation;

 the defendant is elderly or is, or was at the time of the offence suffering from 
significant mental or physical illness, this is balanced against the seriousness 
and complexity of the offence

Page 40



7

 the defendant has put right the loss that was caused (though claimants must 
not avoid prosecution purely on the basis that they have cleared a debt or 
paid compensation);

 any voluntary disclosure;
 social factors such as domestic abuse, or substance abuse

The various reasons listed above both for and against prosecution are not 
exhaustive. The factors that apply will depend on the facts in each individual case.

Council Tax Support anti-fraud policy – process map

                                 

                                 

(B)
The customer is offered a 
fixed penalty of £70

©
The customer is prosecuted 

Sanction/penalty decision recommendation form referred to Investigation Team 
Leader for consideration.

Investigation completed into suspected fraud case.

Investigation Team Leader reviews the recommendation from Compliance 
Officer and considers each case for potential fraud action.

Is there sufficient evidence 
to prosecute Yes or No

(B)
The claimant is offered a 
fixed penalty of £70 in less 
serious cases.

(A)
The claimant is offered a 
financial penalty (50% of 
overpayment) as an 
alternative to prosecution.

No
Close file and recover the 

overpayment

(C)
The claimant is prosecuted 

Yes
Consider appropriate action 
in line with policy
(A), (B), (C) or (D)

(D)
The overpayment is 
recovered and no further 
action is taken

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer)

To: Policy Development Panel - 9 March 2016

Author: Sharon Hammond, Head of Strategy, Revenues and Benefits

Subject: Council Tax Section 13A Policy

Purpose: To consider the policy in relation to applications for discretionary reduction 
under Section 13A (1) (c) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

Recommendation: 

To consider the Council Tax Section 13A Policy, and provide feedback if appropriate.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Section 76 of the Local Government Act 2003 introduced Section 13A (Billing Authority’s 
Power to Reduce Amount of Tax Payable) into the Local Government Finance Act 1992.  
This provides the council with discretionary powers to reduce the amount of council tax 
payable to such an extent as it thinks fit, including reducing the amount to zero, where 
other national discounts and exemptions cannot be applied.

1.2 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 inserted a new Section 13A in the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, creating two discounts: -

 Local Council Tax Support schemes under Section 13A(1) (a) and (b); and
 13A (1) (c) effectively the original Section 13A discount now including provision to 

further reduce the amount of any reduction provided by S13A (1) (a) and (b).

1.3 In accordance with Section 13A (1)(a) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
(amended), the Council has a Council Tax Support scheme which provides assistance to 
those deemed to be within financial need. The scheme has been designed to take into 
account the financial and specific circumstances of individuals with maximum relief of 
75%, of the Council Tax liability, available to working age applicants.

1.4  Council Tax legislation also provides for a wide range of discounts, exemptions and 
reductions that have the effect of reducing the level of council tax due.  The Policy under 
Section 13A (1) (c) as shown at Appendix A will require applicants to have exhausted all 
other options before making an application under this policy.

1.5 Officers applying this policy will similarly consider whether alternative actions could be 
undertaken before applying this policy. As such, this policy will only consider exceptional 
circumstances, due to financial need or crisis, where it is appropriate and fair to provide a 
discretionary discount.

1.6 Any relief awarded under Section 13A (1) (c) would be intended only as short term 
assistance and not a means to reduce Council Tax liability indefinitely.

Page 43

Agenda Item 9.



2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To consider the Policy and make no comment.

2.2 To consider the Policy and make comments where applicable.

2.3 To do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 Having a Policy in place ensures that the Council has a fair approach to dealing with 
applications for discretionary reduction in Council Tax, and the criteria to which there will 
be regard.  

3.2 The policy is designed to consider discretionary relief only in exceptional circumstances, 
and ensures through the decision making process that regard is had to ensure all 
reasonable steps have been taken to resolve personal situations, and that all other eligible 
reductions have been identified and awarded first.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The adoption of a Section 13A policy demonstrates good practice; clarifying the 
application and decision making process.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1   Constitution & Legal

5.1.1 The authority to determine individual applications under Section 13A may be delegated to 
an officer of the authority under section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972.

5.2 Corporate Priorities

5.2.1 Through clear and defined process, the policy will contribute to the following corporate 
objectives:  

 To provide the right services, at the right time and in the right way.
 To develop safer, stronger, healthier and more independent communities while 

protecting the most vulnerable.

5.3 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.3.1 This policy is accessible to all Council taxpayers in the event of financial crisis or event 
causing exceptional hardship and where other statutory reductions cannot be claimed.

5.4 Financial 

5.4.1   The full cost resulting from the granting of a local discount or a reduction must be met by 
the billing authority and cannot be passed onto other major precepting authorities. 

5.4.2    All costs associated with Council tax discounts & reliefs are examined as part of the 
annual budget activity. 

5.4.3   The Collection Fund includes budgets for all major discounts and reliefs including the 13A 
relief in this report

Page 44



5.4.4   Costs incurred in 2015/16 are £1,200 to date within an annual budget of £2500. The 
2016/17 budget is also £2,500 and this will be monitored regularly during the year.

5.5 Risk Management 

5.5.1 The adoption of a Section 13A Policy will help to reduce the risk of challenge against 
process.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All wards will be affected.  Applications for discretionary relief under Section 13A may be 
made by any Council Tax payer across the South Holland district.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 S13A – Section 13A Local Government Finance Act 1992

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Sharon Hammond / Ken Trotter
Telephone Number: 01507 613306 / 01775 764684
Email: sharon.hammond@cpbs.com / ken.trotter@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Council Tax Section 13A Policy

Page 45

mailto:sharon.hammond@cpbs.com


This page is intentionally left blank



Section 13A Policy

For the determination of applications 
for a reduction in Council Tax liability

Page 47



Section 13A Council Tax Discretionary Reduction

Background

Section 13A (1) (c) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 allows the council to reduce 
the amount of council tax payable. It can be used for individual cases or the council can 
determine classes of case in which liability is to be reduced. South Holland District Council 
has not specified any class of case in which liability is to be reduced. However, we will 
consider claims on individual cases. 

There are financial implications to awarding any discounts other than those currently 
available under the statutory legislation and the financial burden of Section 13A (1) (c) 
discounts has to be met through an increase in the general level of council tax for other 
payers.

The Council would expect that there would be evidence of exceptional, unforeseen 
circumstances to justify any reduction and that it would be intended only as short term 
assistance, and not a means to reduce Council Tax liability indefinitely.

1. How to claim a discretionary reduction

Applications must be made in writing by the taxpayer, or by someone authorised to act on 
their behalf, and sent, clearly headed ‘Section 13A Application’ to Council Tax, South 
Holland District Council, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, PE11 2XE.

The application should: - 
 Relate to the current council tax year, unless the liable person has just received an 

account following late valuation for a previous year(s) 

 Clearly set out the circumstances on which the application is based, and any 
hardship or personal circumstances relating to the applicant

We may request any reasonable evidence in support of an application.  Separate claims 
must be made in respect of different dwellings and/or council tax accounts.

2. Discretionary Reduction Criteria

South Holland District Council will only consider using its powers to reduce council tax 
liability for any council tax payer or class of payer in exceptional circumstances. 

We will treat all applications on their individual merits, however we will have regard to the 
following criteria for each case: -

 There must be evidence of financial hardship or personal circumstances of an 
exceptional nature that justifies a reduction in council tax liability

Page 48



 The taxpayer must satisfy the Council that all reasonable steps have been taken to 
resolve their situation prior to application

 All other eligible discounts/reliefs/benefits have been awarded
 The taxpayer does not have access to other assets that could be used to pay council 

tax

Where a situation could be resolved by some other legitimate means, such as the 
complaints procedure, it is unlikely that an award under Section 13A would be made.

The situation and reason for the application must be outside of the taxpayer's control, and 
the amount outstanding must not be the result of wilful refusal to pay or culpable neglect.

3. Decision making process

Decisions in respect of applications for Section 13A relief will be made by senior officers.  All 
decisions will have regard to the district’s Council Tax payers.

4. Amount and period of relief
The amount of any relief awarded will be at the council’s discretion, taking into account the 
amount of the debt and the extent to which the criteria is met.

The period of reduction will be a maximum of 6 months.

5. Notification of Decision

The Council will notify a Council Tax Payer in writing within 14 days of receiving sufficient 
information to make a decision.

6. Request for Review

If an applicant is dissatisfied with the decision a request for a review must be made in 
writing within one month of the date of the letter informing the applicant of the decision.  

The letter of appeal should be accompanied by any additional information that the applicant 
feels might justify a change in the original decision.  The review will be considered by the 
Portfolio Holder for Finance in consultation with the Section 151 Officer.  

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Mark Stinson – Executive Manager Governance

To: Policy Development Panel – 9 March 2016

(Author: Christine Morgan – Democratic Services Officer

Subject: Policy Development Panel Work Programme

Purpose: To set out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel

Recommendation: 

That the Panel gives consideration to the report and identifies any issues for discussion.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Background

1.1.1 This report records the issues for consideration that have been identified by the Panel for 
inclusion on its Work Programme.

1.2 Issues

1.2.1 Appendix A sets out the dates of future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 
consideration.  These items were either originally suggested by councillors or are being 
referred to the Panel from officers or the Cabinet.  This appendix will be updated as new 
items are identified.

1.2.2 Appendix B sets out the task groups that have been identified by the Panel.  The table 
shows:

 The name of the task group
 What it wants to achieve
 Key dates
 Membership of the task group
 When the task group will be reporting back to the Panel

1.2.3 It is hoped that in presenting the information in this way, and by having the report as a 
standing item on the agenda, it will record the issues identified by the Panel and provide the 
opportunity for councillors to monitor the progress of its Work Programme.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note and consider the current status of the Work Programme.

2.2 To do nothing.

Page 51

Agenda Item 11.



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 To allow councillors to feed into the Panel’s calendar of Work Programme items and the 
Work Programme on a regular basis, to ensure that they stay relevant and up to date.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The calendar of Work Programme items and the Work Programme will provide councillors 
with up to date and relevant information.  Timelines for various calendar items and 
proposed task groups within the Work Programme are included within the appendices.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 There are no direct carbon footprint and environmental issue implications associated with 
this report.  As individual items are progressed through the work programme, their carbon 
footprint and environmental issue implications will be assessed.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 There are no direct constitution and legal implications associated with this report.  As 
individual items are progressed through the work programme, their constitutional and legal 
implications will be assessed.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 There are no direct contract implications associated with this report.  As individual items 
are progressed through the work programme, their contract implications will be assessed.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 In identifying issues for inclusion on the work programme, councillors consider the 
suitability of the subject, taking into account such considerations as whether the issue is 
strategic and significant and whether it is likely to lead to effective outcomes.  One of the 
indicators against which each potential task group is scored identifies how strongly the 
topic links to the Council's key aims and priorities.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 There are no direct crime and disorder implications associated with this report.  As 
individual items are progressed through the work programme, their crime and disorder 
implications will be assessed.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 There are no direct equality and diversity or human rights implications associated with this 
report.  As individual items are progressed through the work programme, their equality 
and diversity and human rights implications will be assessed.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 There are no direct financial implications associated with this report.  As individual items 
are progressed through the work programme, their financial implications will be assessed.

Page 52



5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 There are no direct health and wellbeing implications associated with this report.  As 
individual items are progressed through the work programme, their health and wellbeing 
implications will be assessed.

5.9  Reputation

5.9.1 There are no direct reputational implications associated with this report.  As individual 
items are progressed through the work programme, any reputational implications for the 
Authority will be assessed.

5.10   Risk Management 

5.10.1    There are no direct risk management implications associated with this report.  As 
   individual items are progressed through the work programme, their risk management        
   implications will be assessed. 

5.11   Safeguarding

5.11.1   There are no direct safeguarding implications associated with this report.  As individual       
items are progressed through the work programme, their safeguarding implications will be 
assessed. 

5.12   Staffing

5.12.1   There are no direct staffing implications associated with this report.  As individual items 
are progressed through the work programme, their staffing implications will be assessed.

5.13  Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.13.1  There are no direct stakeholder/consultation/timescale implications associated with this 
report.  As individual items are progressed through the work programme, their 
stakeholder/consultation/timescale implications will be assessed.

5.14 Transformation Programme

5.14.1 There are no direct Transformation Programme implications associated with this report.  
However, the Policy Development Panel and the Performance Monitoring Panel are 
meeting at regular intervals to consider the progress of the Programme, and elements of 
future Task Groups will have links to areas being addressed by the Programme.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 When a task group is considered for inclusion on the Panel’s Work Programme, it is 
assessed against criteria covering ‘Importance’, ‘Impact’ and ‘Value for Money’.  The 
‘Impact’ and ‘Value for Money’ score indicators consider how strongly the issue will affect 
a ward(s), customer group(s) or service area(s).  Only issues scoring highly will be 
included in the Work Programme.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.

Page 53



Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer

Name and Post: Christine Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)
Telephone Number: 01775 764454
Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Work Programme Calendar
Appendix B Task Group Work Programme 2015/16

Page 54



APPENDIX A

Policy Development Panel – Calendar of Work Programme items

Date of Meeting Agenda items
9 March 2016  Should the Council have a policy stating that all residual 

gain from Right to Buy sales be ring fenced for council 
housing? – background information and details on current 
position to be provided by Interim Chief Accountant after 
which Panel to decide if it wishes to consider this further 
(following budget scrutiny recommendation)

 Council Tax Section 13A Policy
 Council Tax Support Anti-Fraud Policy

26 April 2016 
5 July 2016  Update on current situation around long-term empty 

homes (previous updates 22/7/15 and 13/1/16) (Matthew 
Hogan)

 Spalding Town Centre Manager to provide an update on 
the Voluntary Code for Shopkeepers (requested by the 
Panel at its meeting on 13 January 2016 under 
consideration of Street Scene issues) 

7 September 2016 
20 December 2016 
28 February 2017 
9 May 2017 

Note: Taxi Licensing Policy – this policy will now be considered at a future meeting when 
updates have been received on relevant legislation.

Transformation Programme – Updates on progress of the Transformation 
Programme are to be provided to quarterly joint meetings of the Performance 
Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel.  These meeting dates are to be 
confirmed shortly.

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL – WORK PROGRAMME 2015/2016

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added to 
Work 
Programme

Date Work 
Commenced    

Membership of 
Task Group

Proposed date to report 
back to Panel

Leisure Facilities Task 
Group

Joint Task Group 
incorporating members 
of the Performance 
Monitoring and Policy 
Development Panels

To make recommendations, regarding 
the present and future leisure     provision 
in South Holland.

1. By establishing what leisure provision 
the District Council presently 
provides, examining costs, resident 
satisfaction and competitiveness in 
order to identify ways of increasing 
income or reducing expenditure;

2. To understand what the District 
Council wishes to provide and what 
the public and major employers need; 

3. To examine the options for future 
provision either to be supplied by the 
Council, the private sector or shared 
management.

Agreed at PMP 25 November 2014 – A 
date for completion of the Business Plan 
looking at Leisure Services provision, 
being drawn together by the Community 
Development and Health Manager, be 
confirmed by the Assistant Director 
Community, and that a joint meeting of 
the Performance Monitoring Panel and 

30 April 2013 21 January 
2014

G Aley (Chairman)
D Ashby
A Casson
G Dark
R Perkins (Vice-
Chairman)
S Slade
E Sneath
S Wilkinson

Lead Officer: Phil 
Adams

* Membership to 
be considered 
following District 
Council Election

Interim report presented 
to joint PMP/PDP – 19 
August 2014
To Cabinet  7 October 
2014
Tracking of 
recommendations to 
PDP 10 February 2015 
Update on Leisure 
options to PMP 3 March 
2015 (PDP members to 
attend PMP meeting)

P
age 57



Policy Development Panel, for 
consideration of the document, be 
arranged.

Following consideration of the update to 
PMP on 3 March 2015 (PDP members 
were invited to attend), it was agreed that 
leisure provision must be a priority for the 
Council, and must be considered as a 
priority by the next administration 
following the District Council election.

Sir Halley Stewart 
Playing Field Task 
Group

Joint Task Group 
incorporating members 
from the Performance 
Monitoring and Policy 
Development Panels

Outline Purpose of Review…

To look into whether it was possible for 
the Council to extend the use of the Sir 
Halley Stewart Playing Field to wider 
public access, within the scope of the 
deeds.

…..based on the following Terms of 
Reference:

 To establish the situation with regard 
to finances in relation to the Sir Halley 
Stewart Playing Field;

 To establish what activities could be 
undertaken at the Sir Halley Stewart 
Playing Field, and what they would 
cost;

 To establish how the community 
could be included in a wider usage of 
the Sir Halley Stewart Playing Field;

 To consider the promotion of the 
booking and accessibility of the Sir 

11 December 
2013

12 February 
2014

G R Aley
P E Coupland
G K Dark 
(Chairman)
A Harrison
R Perkins
E Sneath

* Membership to 
be considered 
following District 
Council Election

Final report to Council 
21 January 2015
Update from Council 
meeting to PDP 
received 10 February 
2015.
Update to PMP 3 March 
2015 including PDP 
members.

P
age 58



Halley Stewart Playing Field in order 
to ensure that the Public Benefit test 
was met.

Verbal update to PMP meeting on 3 
March 2015, including PDP members, on 
the current situation.  Following this, it 
was agreed to have a further update on 
progress of work programme set up to 
address recommendations made by the 
Sir Halley Stewart Playing Field Task 
Group to be provided to both Panels in 
September 2015.

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2.a) Special joint meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel
	2.b) Special joint meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel
	2.c) Policy Development Panel
	2.d) Special joint meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel
	7. Key Decision Plan
	8. Council Tax Support Anti-Fraud Policy
	Appendix A

	9. Council Tax Section 13A Policy
	Appendix A

	11. Policy Development Panel Work Programme
	App A Calendar of Work Programme items
	App B Work Programme


